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A Romanesque Church Design: Image and Meaning

n a Sunday morning in March of

1853, the First Congregational

Church of Winchester, Massa-
chusetts, was engulfed by fire. Despite
efforts by the citizens of the town and
engine companies from neighboring
Woburn, Stoneham, and Medford, the
destruction of the church, including the
“new and valuable church organ, procured
by subscription during the winter of 1852-
53,” was complete.! Ironically, the sermon
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FIGURE 1. The First Congregational
Church of Winchester, 1853-54,
designed by Alexander Esty. A line
drawing of the church reveals its original
appearance.
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planned for that Sabbath was intended to
preach the value of supporting the
expansion of the Congregational Church
into the western United States and to
begin a collection in support of church-
building in the western territories. Instead,
as church Clerk Stephen A. Holt notes in
a contemporary volume, the Reverend
Reuben Totman Robinson suggested to
his congregation that they begin at home
with the rebuilding of their own church:

... he exhorted the people in accordance with
the spirit of his discourse and the manifest will
of Providence to begin at home and rebuild
here the House of God and concluded with the
carnest wish that the glory of the latter house
might exceed the former, not only in material
beauty and fitness, but also spiritually, “even by
the coming of our Lord’s Savior, who shall fill it
with his presence and glory.”?

His words were apparently taken to
heart by the congregation. A few days later,
a Woburn Journalcorrespondentreported,
“At an informal meeting of the Congrega-
tional Parish, held on Monday evening, a
harmonious and determined spirit seemed
to prevail, and it was voted, unanimously,
to take immediate measures for the erec-
tion of a new church.”?

Built between 1853 and 1854, the new
First Congregational Church was designed
in the Romanesque Revival style. It is an
early work of prominent nineteenth-cen-
tury architect Alexander Rice Esty, whose
role in the building’s design has not been
recognized in publications on Winchester
history and architecture. Ina 1993 lecture,
architectural historian Stephen Jerome pre-

sented documentation in support of the
attribution.* The Winchester church ap-
pears to be a variation on the design of
Esty’s first Romanesque Revival church:
Prospect Street Congregational in Cam-
bridge, dating from 1851.

The First Congregational Church may
be studied from two other perspectives.
First, it represents an early Massachusetts
example of an important nineteenth-cen-
tury picturesque style. Second, the rebuild-
ing of First Congregational was marked by
controversy despite the account, quoted in
the Woburn Journal, of the convivial parish
meeting. From the selection of the build-
ing committee to the choice of church
design, First Congregational became the
focus of friction within Winchester relating
to its evolution from a rural town into an
affluent suburb of Boston.

Alexander Rice Esty (1826-81) was a
life-long Framingham, Massachusetts, na-
tive and the son of a carpenter-builder. A
prominent citizen of the town, he was at
one time chairman of the board of select-
men. Like many architects of the mid-
nineteenth century, Esty began his career
with an apprenticeship to a practicing ar-
chitect: Richard Bond, who designed Gore
Hall at Harvard College (1836-38, de-
stroyed 1914). After his apprenticeship,
Esty worked for Gridley J. F. Bryant and
then opened his own office in 1849.
According to city directories, Esty’s archi-
tectural office was located in Boston at
2 Change Avenue from 1850 through
1874 and subsequently at 35 Congress
Street until his death at fifty-fourin 1881.°
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During a thirty-odd-year career, Esty
was a successful and prolific architect of
public, residential, and ecclesiastical build-
ings. He designed a number of colleges
and schools, including the State Normal
School at Framingham (1853), Anderson
Hall at the University of Rochester (1859-
61), and several buildings at Colby Col-
lege in Waterville, Maine (1867-72).6 Esty
also designed several commercial build-
ings after Boston’s great fire of 1872: the
Monk’s buildings at 35 Congress Street
(1873, destroyed) and at E Street and
West Broadway in South Boston (1873),
and the Boston and Albany Railroad De-
poton Kneeland Street (1881, destroyed).”
At the time of his death, Esty was poised
for success on a national scale. His obituary
notes that he was one of three architects
appointed to aspecial commission to “make
designs of the proposed Congressional
Library Building” and suggests that his
designs for the interior had been “unani-
mously approved.”®

Several obituaries indicate that Esty’s
church architecture was well regarded. Of
his known works, churches are the most
numerous.’ Although a devout Episcopa-
lian, Esty designed churches for Baptists,
Methodists, and Congregationalists.!?
Noteworthy extant examplesinclude Pros-
pect Street Congregational (now Christ
the King Presbyterian) in Cambridge
(1851), the Church of Our Saviour in
Brookline (1867-68),and Union Congre-
gational (now Union United Methodist)
in Boston’s South End (1872). In keeping
with the common practice of the time,
Esty’s Episcopal churches are always Gothic
in design, while those built for other de-
nominations are typically Romanesque and
occasionally Gothic.

Esty’s first church design may have been
the 1848 remodeling of the Hollis Evan-
gelical Meeting House, Framingham, in
the Gothic style.!* Architectural historian
Lance Kasparian proposes, however, that
during 1848, while working for Gridley
Bryant, Esty may have designed the Gothic-
style First Baptist Church in Haverhill.
Dedicated in November of 1849, First
Baptist closely resembles Richard Upjohn’s
Trinity Church in New York City (1844-
46). A Haverbill (Mass.) Gazette article
from 1849 states that Bryant was the “ar-
chitect under whose supervision designs
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FIGURE 2. The First Congregational Church today. The building retains its
original massing, although many of the church’s Romanesque Revival
decorative elements are gone.

were prepared and the building executed,”
but that the “drawings were made by Mr.
Alexander Esty.” Esty’s name and office
address of 2 Change Street appear on the
church drawings, which suggests that he,
not Bryant, actually designed the build-
ing.'?

The surviving records for the First
Congregational Church of Winchester in-

dicate that the parish first contacted archi-
tect Richard Bond to design the new build-
ing. The parish book for 1840-55 notes on
11 April 1853 that “Mr. Bond the Archi-
tect has some Plans of Churches which he
would like to have the Parish look at.” '3
Yet in a 4 October 1854 entry outlining
the total cost of the church, “Mr. Esty” is
listed as being owed $100, presumably for
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FIGURE 3. Prospect Street
Congregational Church, Cambridge,
1851, designed by Esty. The
Cambridge church (now Christ the
King Presbyterian Church) was built
of brick.

a church design.’ An October 1861 issue
of the Congregational Quarterly confirms
the attribution of the church to Esty. It
includes an illustration captioned “Con-
gregational Church, Winchester, Ms.
Alexander R. Esty, Esq., of Boston, Archi-
tect. E.F. Watson, of Lowell, Builder.”"
The appearance of both Bond and Esty in
records relating to the church’s design is
intriguing due to the carlier relationship
between the two men as master and ap-
prentice.
mentation, one can only speculate about
how this relationship might have resulted
in Esty’s becoming the architect of First
Congregational.

But without additional docu-

Like many churches of the period, First
Congregational has been altered since its
completion. The illustration that appeared
in the Congregational Quarterly provides
an opportunity to examine First Congre-
gational as it was built in 1854 (figure 1).
The current exterior massing of the
church—with the exception of the addi-
tion of the parish house at the rear of the
building—is similar to that of the original
(figure 2). The front entrance has been
changed by the addition of narthex wings
and porches in 1904. But much of the
church is essentially the same as it was
when it was completed, including its main

building block, four-story axial tower,
single central entrance, and broach spire.
Six bays, each fenestrated with a large,
round-headed window at the nave level
and a smaller round-headed window at the
basement level, appearin the 1861 illustra-
tion and can still be seen today. The 1861
description notes that the height of the
tower and spire is 172 feet.'®

Significant changes in the exterior de-
tails have been made, however, including
the alteration or removal of most of the
Romanesque Revival decorative elements.
With the exception of the steeple, the
original building was resurfaced with stone
and stucco in 1959. All of the decorative
arched molding—which resembled a flat-
tened corbel table—was removed. In the
1861 illustration, this molding may be
seen immediately beneath the cornice and
in three places on the tower—beneath the
cornice and over the windows in both the
second and fourth stories. The window
profiles in the tower have been simplified.
The original second-story tower windows
were separated by a columnar mullion, and
the third and fourth-story stages were en-
hanced by panelwork. The original roof
was probably slate. Prior to the addition of
the narthex wings, the hexagonal stair tur-
rets, with their Romanesque style round-
arched windows, were more visible. A
number of new decorative elements have
transformed the exterior into something
more akin to a Classical Revival church.
The pilasters at the corners of the main
facade and between the windows on the
sides of the building are the most notewor-
thy. The 1861 article does not suggest the
color of the church’s exterior, but nine-
teenth-century photographs show that it
was not white.'”” Happily, the doorway,
with its pair of rounded arches carried on
half columns, displays archivolts with a
chevron pattern, which gives the viewer an
important clue to the church’s original
exterior.

First Congregational’s exterior closely
resembles an earlier church designed by
Esty, Prospect Street Congregational
(1851)in Cambridge (figure 3). While not
identical—Prospect Street Congregational
is built of brick that originally was painted
to resemble stone—the main facades have
the same axial four-story tower flanked by
hexagonal stair turrets, central round-

arched doorway with chevron-patterned
archivolts supported by paired columns,
and decorative moldings. A third Esty
church, Park Street Baptist (1854) in
Framingham (figure 4) originally displayed
a similar facade.'®

Like the exterior, the interior of First
Congregational—a large auditorium space
consisting of a nave with side aisles and
without balconies—has been somewhat
altered (figure 5). The organ, which has
been moved, was located in the tower. The
pews were arranged inasemi-circular shape
focused on the pulpit; an example of this
configuration can still be seen at Prospect
Street Congregational. In 1925, a deep
chancel was added.

Perhaps the most striking aspect of the
church interior, its elaborate decorative
plasterwork, has not been altered. Elabo-
rate decorative elements appear through-
out the interior. The tall nave arcade is
carried on octagonal piers, each with eight
attached half-columns and lush foliate capi-
tals. The ceiling has been constructed to
resemble ribbed stone vaulting; the 1861
article describes “groined arches” in both
the nave and side aisles. A decorative string-
course divides the nave arcade froma clere-
story above. The ceiling arches spring from
attached columns above the piers, which
also feature foliate capitals. Finally, each
juncture of the ribbed “vaulting” is punc-
tuated by an elaborate plaster boss of inter-
twined vines and leaves. The current white
color of the interior represents a significant
change from the original decorative treat-
ment, which was much darker: the walls
were originally “blocked in imitation of
freestone” and the wood furnishings were
constructed of English oak and rosewood. "

While no contemporary accounts of an
official Congregational Church response
to the design of the Winchester building
have been found to date, the 1861 descrip-
tionin the Congregational Quarterly notes,
“Itis universally conceded that the propor-
tions and the fitting up of the [First Con-
gregational] interior are unique and
tasteful, beautifully in keeping with the
design of the house.” 2 Influential mem-
bers of the Congregational Church had
recently endorsed Romanesque Revival as
a particularly appropriate style for Congre-
gational churches. This development is
analyzed in Gwen W. Steege’s article en-



titled “The Book of Plans and the Early
Romanesque Revival in the United States:
AStudyin Architectural Patronage.” Steege
suggests that the Book of Plans, published
in 1853 by the Congregational Church,
was an “important catalyst in the general
spread of medieval styles and the Ro-
manesque in particular throughout Ameri-
can church architecture.” She links the
choice of style to a “purification move-
ment” within the Congregational
Church.?' A Book of Plans was intended to
provide correct designs for new Congrega-
tional church buildings, especially those in
the rapidly expanding western states:

... in the judgement of this Convention, it is
expedient that the Central Committee, con-
stituted for the aid of Churches at the West,
in erecting Houses of Worship, procure
plans of suitable edifices, with specifications
and estimates...with a view to promoting
convenience, economy and good taste, in the
design and execution of the work.?

Two of the Book of Plans authors were
founding members of the Church of the
Pilgrimsin Brooklyn, New York, an impor-
tant center for Congregationalist theo-
logical revival during this period. Steege
suggests that the Church of the Pilgrims,
designed by Richard Upjohn in 1844 and
dedicated in 1846, was “the seminal church
in the Romanesque Revival movement in
this country.”?

As First Congregational’s rebuilding
occurred soon after the publication of this
important work, it is tempting to conclude
that the book directly influenced
Winchester’s choice of the Romanesque
style. The book presents several designs for
Romanesque-style churches, including one
with a prominent axial tower entrance on
its west facade. However, as previously
discussed, First Congregational is prob-
ably based on an earlier Esty design, Pros-
pect Street Congregational in Cambridge.
The Book of Plans may have served instead
to provide the building committee with
the authority to approve the Romanesque-
style design.

The original First Congregational
Church building in Winchester was builtin
1840 by members of the Woburn Congre-
gational Church who lived in South
Woburn. They had determined for a vari-
ety of reasons to incorporate and build
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FIGURE 4. Park Street Baptist
Church, Framingham, 1854, designed
by Esty. From One Century of Service:
South Framingham Park Street Baptist
Church, 1854-1954.

their own church. The building they erected
is described by historian Henry Smith
Chapman as “a simple, white painted New
England meetinghouse” and is attributed
by him to Gardner Symmes. When it was
completed, the church had forty-two pew
holders.?*

South Woburn was incorporated as a
separate town in 1850 and was renamed
Winchester; it had been experiencing sig-
nificant change since 1835. During the
carly nineteenth century, the area was still
“a community of scattered farms, rural in
character in spite of a few promising indus-
tries.”* By 1835, however, the Boston and
Lowell Railroad had been built through
South Woburn. Chapman notes that sev-
eral men moved their businesses from
Woburn to South Woburn to take advan-
tage of the proximity of the railroad.?® By
1845, Chapman writes, South Woburn
“must have numbered at least a thousand
persons. In addition to those attracted by
itsindustries, it was beginning to be sought

out by residents of Boston who recognized
the beauty of its surroundings and found
the railroad a ready and speedy means of
reaching it.”%

Substantial growth occurred during the
early 1850s. Between 1850 and 1852, the
taxrolls doubled and town expenses tripled:
in 1850 taxes due totaled $3,001 and town
expenses were $4,116; by 1852 taxes due
totaled over $6,000 and expenses were
nearly $12,000.® The increase in town
population was such that the townspeople
decided that the existing small cemetery
behind First Congregational would no
longer serve. A new and larger cemetery,

Wildwood, was completed by the summer
of 1852.%

The expansion of the town and its chang-
ing character created friction between inhab-
itants, and the destruction of First
Congregational by fire in early 1853 oc-
curred at a time when relations were not at
their best. The rebuilding of the church was
accompanied by controversy and ill-feeling
between residents whose families had resided
in Winchester for years and the newer resi-
dents who regarded Winchester as an attrac-
tive commuting suburb of Boston.

An account published soon after the
church was destroyed suggests that the
choice of the building committee was a
source of controversy:

A building committee of nine members was
clected and instructed to proceed at once
with plans to rebuild the church. The com-
mittee, once chosen, made the startling pro-
posal that they be not restricted in the leastin
their actions; i.e., that they be allowed to
build such as house as they saw fit, without
limitation as to the amount of money they
should spend, or advice as to the kind of
church they should build. This, of course,
provoked discussion, for in the opinion of
some, it placed too much power in their
hands. In the end, however, the committee

prevailed, although by a small majority.*°

An August 1853 article in the Woburn
Journal indicates that only five months
after the fire, the building committee had
accomplished a great deal: “The new
church, now in progress of building at
Winchester, in place of the one lately burnt,
will be a very handsome building, costing
about $16,000. The site for the church has
been much improved. The materials for
the building appear to be on the ground



and the workers are plenty and busy.”?!

The same article also notes, with apparent
pride, the changes then occurring in the
town: “There are many fine buildings be-
ing erected in Winchester. The town is
rapidly growing.” 32

In April of the following year, the
Middlesex Journal records that at the an-
nual meeting of the Congregational Par-
ish, the building committee estimated the
total cost of the church is “little rising
$22,000 [sic].”® The correspondent ap-
pears to have been either a member of the
committee or at the least sympathetic with
it, for he writes:

This certainly is a very reasonable sum for so
spacious and handsome an edifice as the
society have in process of erection. And here
we would say, we approve most heartily of
the enlarged and liberal view which the soci-
ety have entertained throughout this enter-
prise. There is no reason why this house
should be the poorest house in the village.
Rather should it be the best as superior to all
others as the purpose for which it is intended
is higher, holier.?*

The correspondent reports also that the
meeting had been “very harmonious and
pleasant” and that “...the affairs of the
society were never in a more satisfactory
and prosperous condition.” 3

Yet correspondence published in the
paper during May and June of 1854 clearly
contradicts the assertion that all was “har-
monious and pleasant.” The April 22nd
article comments favorably on a cross on
the top of the spire: “Certainly if there is
any appropriate symbol for a Christian
church it is the cross. Nor is there any
reason why this should be suffered to re-
main in the possession of any one denomi-
nation...”3 However, a response in the
May 6th edition asserts that the cross
is a “Catholic emblem on a Protestant
church.”¥

On June 17th, a correspondent who
signs himself “A Citizen” explicitly states
the feeling of the established residents of
the town toward the newer residents, the
commuters:

It is necessary that readers should know that
in our goodly town nearly everything of a
public nature is done by, or through, or for
“the people who go to Boston.” And the
same will apply to our Parish. When our

FIGURE 5.

(Winchester, Mass., Archival Center)
First Congregational Church, Winchester, interior, as
photographed in 1882. The photograph shows how the church interior
originally appeared when the walls were painted to resemble blocks of
freestone.

house was burnt there was a feeling of regret
on the part of every one for the place (if not
the place where our fathers worshiped) at
least where we had worshiped. And there was
butone feeling expressed at the society meet-
ing that was informally called [ here the writer
refers to the meeting in March of 1853, just
after the fire]. And on the part of some, the
feeling was expressed that the house which
we proposed to build should be exceedingly
magnificent. But on this point all could not
agree. But all were agreed so far that it
should be a commodious and a good house.
Yet here another point came in. It should be
done to please the people who go to Boston.
And accordingly at a regularly called Parish
meeting a rather fresh importation of that
class came forward and joined the Parish, and
the same evening some from these were
chosen on the committee; and one was cho-
sen ... who was not a member of the Parish.
In order to carry out the design it was neces-
sary that they should not be restricted the
least in their actions. Hence a motion was
made and carried by a small majority that
they would build such a house as they saw fit,
without being limited as to the amount of
money they should expend or consulting the
Parish as to the kind of house they should
build. Some thought it was giving them too
much power. But the committee wanted
such power and we believe have acted strictly
in accordance with them, by consulting no-

body but themselves, and making a very large
expenditure. Hence the cross your corre-
spondent spoke of in terms of such eulogy.*®

The passage suggests that not only was
the expenditure of the committee an issue
for other members of the parish, but that
the design of the church itself was a point
of contention. The final cost of the church
was in excess of $26,000—a not inconsid-
erable sum for a wooden edifice at that
time—and $10,000 more than originally
estimated. In addition, the completed
church could seat approximately 750
people, almost three times the size of the
actual congregation. Was the committee
interested in creating a large and beautiful
building in order to attract more parishio-
ners in a rapidly growing town? Or were
the size and style of the church the result of
building committee members who wanted
to ornament “their” town with an impres-
sive monument—a case of the building
reflecting the patrons’ ambitions? The lav-
ishness of the interior and expenditure
might support this second hypothesis.

Despite the controversy in Winchester,
the completed building received favorable
notice from the Church hierarchy. In the
closing paragraph of its 1861 article, the
Congregational Quarterly notes, “Thus this
Church, though it has not yet attained to
its majority, has...come to take rank in
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numbers and efficiency among the first
churches in the State,” and adds, “Itis to
be hoped that the cause of religion will
continue to flourish in this highly favored
community...” 3 The author, no doubt,
would observe with satisfaction that today,
after nearly 150 years, Esty’s church still
presides over Winchester’s town center
and is maintained by an active parish.
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